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INTRODUCTION 

 Seventeen-year-old Victim met forty-four-year-old Kain Blackwing 

when her boyfriend joined Blackwing’s martial arts program. Over the next 

several months, Blackwing isolated Victim and preyed on her emotions, first 

as a martial arts instructor and later as a confidante, a protector, a father 

figure, a landlord, a lover, and a jailer.  

 Victim began training with Blackwing to impress her boyfriend, but 

found that she liked it. Training generally occurred at Blackwing’s home and, 

over several weeks, Victim increased the time she spent both training and 

talking with Blackwing. He portrayed himself as someone with power who 

could help her with her problems. He listened, offered her advice, gave her 
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care and comfort, and showered her with praise and compliments. Victim felt 

protected when Blackwing temporarily banished her boyfriend from training 

after he physically abused her. She spent increasing amounts of time at his 

house and viewed him as a father figure. Over time, she was texting, talking, 

or visiting him daily and spending hours at a time at his home at least five 

days a week.  

By the time Blackwing suggested that she move into his house, he had 

her believing that he was immortal, he could help her become immortal, he 

had been an assassin, and he had special abilities that could benefit her. He 

sealed the deal by convincing her that he and the two women with whom he 

lived all loved her. He met with Victim’s parents and portrayed himself as 

Victim’s potential landlord, explaining that he planned to collect rent, impose 

a curfew, and ensure Victim went to school. They approved the move. 

Victim moved in two days later, bringing only things Blackwing 

approved. He gave her a bedroom “just for show” and began a sexual 

relationship with her the night she moved in. He taught her how to satisfy 

him sexually and introduced her to group sex. He taught her how to do 

everything in the manner he preferred, and he punished her when she 

disappointed him. He isolated her from her family and friends and banned 

her from using social media. When representatives of the Division of Child 
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and Family Services arrived to check on Victim a month before her eighteenth 

birthday, Blackwing had two responses: (1) he threatened and intimidated 

Victim to the point that she lied and told them that the two were not sexually 

involved; and (2) he ceased having intercourse with Victim in Utah until her 

eighteenth birthday. Instead, he took her to Texas for the last ten days of the 

month and had intercourse with her there.  

 Police arrested Blackwing in July for matters unrelated to Victim and 

arrested Victim the following September for conduct related to Blackwing’s 

arrest. Once away from Blackwing, Victim confided everything to police and 

her parents. Consequently, the State charged Blackwing with seven counts of 

rape, three counts of forcible sexual abuse, and one count of forcible sodomy.  

A jury convicted him as charged. 

 Blackwing challenges all eleven of his convictions. Having not 

preserved a sufficiency challenge, he argues that the State failed to establish 

the district court’s criminal jurisdiction over three of the rape charges because 

there was no evidence that those acts of intercourse occurred in Utah during 

the relevant time period. He further argues that his counsel was ineffective 

for not moving for a directed verdict or to arrest judgment because of that 

same lack of evidence. Both claims fail because the evidence and the 
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reasonable inferences therefrom, taken in context, shows that those three 

separate acts of intercourse timely occurred within Utah. 

 Blackwing also challenges the trial court’s denial of the new trial 

motion he timely filed within days of sentencing. But this Court lacks 

jurisdiction to reach his argument. Blackwing timely filed a new trial motion. 

But before the trial court ruled on that motion, he also filed a timely notice of 

appeal from his convictions and sentences which started this appeal. Seven 

months later, he obtained a remand from this Court to get a ruling on his new 

trial motion. The trial court denied the motion six months later and returned 

the case to this Court. But Blackwing neither amended his notice of appeal 

nor filed a new one after entry of the ruling on his new-trial motion, as 

required by Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(b)(2). Blackwing therefore 

has appealed only from his convictions and sentences. Accordingly, this 

Court lacks jurisdiction over his challenge to the denial of his new-trial 

motion. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

 Issue 1A.  Utah has jurisdiction to prosecute any person who commits 

an offense “either wholly or partly within the state.”  Blackwing narrowly 

focuses on the victim’s descriptions of individual acts of intercourse and 

interprets her testimony as establishing two, not three, acts of rape between 
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April 1 and May 13. One of those acts, he claims, occurred during the Texas 

trip while the other was not tied to any location. Thus, he argues, the State 

did not establish the district court’s jurisdiction over any of the three rape 

counts he now challenges.  

 Does Blackwing’s incomplete recitation of the evidence demonstrate 

that the trial court lacked jurisdiction over three of his seven rape 

convictions?  

 Standard of Review. Whether the trial court had jurisdiction over the 

charges presents a question of law which is reviewed for correctness. State v. 

Holm, 2006 UT 31, ¶10, 137 P.3d 726; State v. Mills, 2012 UT App 367, ¶13, 293 

P.3d 1129. 

 Issue 1B. Blackwing’s trial counsel unsuccessfully moved for a 

directed verdict on all the rape charges, arguing a lack of proof of nonconsent. 

For the three rape counts he now challenges on appeal, his counsel did not 

also seek a directed verdict or an arrest of judgment based on an alleged lack 

of evidence that he and the victim had intercourse in Utah three times in 

April.  

 Has Blackwing proven that trial counsel was constitutionally 

ineffective for not moving for a directed verdict or an arrest of judgment 

on the same three rape charges based on insufficiency of the evidence to 
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establish that he and the victim had intercourse in Utah three times in 

April? 

 Standard of Review. “When a criminal defendant raises a claim of 

ineffective assistance of counsel for the first time on appeal, there is no trial 

court ruling to examine” and this Court must “decide, as a matter of law, 

whether [the defendant] received constitutionally ineffective assistance of 

counsel.” State v. Baer, 2019 UT App 15, ¶4, 438 P.3d 979 (citation and 

quotation marks omitted). 

 Issue 2. Does this Court have jurisdiction to address Blackwing’s 

appellate challenge to the denial of his new-trial motion where the ruling 

was entered 13 months after the notice of appeal, and Blackwing did not 

thereafter timely file a new or amended notice of appeal?  

 Standard of Review. No standard of review applies to this issue. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Summary of relevant facts. 

 In the fall of 2013, seventeen-year-old Victim had a lot going for her. 

She had a family and friends, dated, and was progressing in school. R1087-

88, 1178, 1254. She attended Itineris Early College High School and took high 

school and college-level classes that would allow her to graduate at the end 

of the school year with a high school diploma and an associate’s degree. 
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R1088, 1194, 1259-61. She was a registered phlebotomist and a certified 

nursing assistant, and she worked with her mother [Mom] at a medical clinic. 

R1088-89, 1193-94, 1261. She had a boyfriend, lived at home in West Jordan, 

read books about vampires, and was interested in immortality. R1114-15. 

 She also had challenges. She had recently lost two grandparents, and 

she had a strained relationship with both of her parents. R1117, 1189, 1259, 

1269-70, 1301-02. Her parents repeatedly separated, and her father was often 

absent. R1269-70. Her mother constantly defended Victim’s mentally-

disabled older brother [Brother], even when he abused Victim. R1123, 1266, 

1302.  Although her father kicked Brother out when he eventually witnessed 

the abuse, her mother allowed Brother to return periodically. R1117, 1123, 

1266, 1302. Whenever he returned, Victim temporarily stayed with other 

people. R1117, 1122-23, 1187-89, 1266-67, 1302.  

 Victim’s boyfriend was interested in martial arts and began training 

that fall with Defendant, Kain Blackwing, at the suggestion of Blackwing’s 

wife Raven, who worked with the boyfriend at McDonald’s. R1087, 1089-

90,1178, 1254, 1256, 1263. A few weeks later, Victim accompanied her 

boyfriend to Blackwing’s West Jordan home where she met Blackwing for the 

first time. R1090-92, 1256. She started training with Blackwing in October to 

impress her boyfriend. R1093, 1110, 1178, 1195, 1256. But by the end of 



-8- 

October, what had started as a couple of hours of training one or two times a 

week with her boyfriend, became increasingly personal training without her 

boyfriend. R1098-99, 1262-63. Training largely occurred at Blackwing’s home, 

and he added hikes and individual and survival training to her training 

regimen and started doing one-on-one trust exercises to increase her reliance 

on him. R1096-1100, 1105, 1195. He frequently complimented her looks, her 

intelligence, and her physical ability during their individual sessions, making 

her feel like she was important to him. R1103-04. 

 The two also talked a lot. R1096, 1098-1100. Victim told Blackwing 

about herself, including her goals and interests, her religion, and her 

problems. Blackwing listened and offered comfort and advice. R1096-97. He 

also told her about the Shen Wei philosophy by which he lived. R1096, 1099, 

1102. He claimed to be a Shen lord, to have more power or authority than 

other Shen, and to be able to read people, energies, and emotions. R1102-03. 

She found his revelations interesting and began to feel more trusting and 

comfortable toward him as he opened up to her. R1096-98, 1103.  

 Victim’s training grew to include survival and fighting instruction. 

R1099-1100. As November waned, she increased her training visits to two or 

three times a week for two or three hours each time. R1105-07. She generally 
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trained alone with Blackwing, and he supplemented their training with 

survival shows like “Naked and Afraid[.]” R1105-06, 1274.   

 Around this time, Victim and her boyfriend fought and he choked her, 

leaving visible bruising on her throat. R1107, 1281-83. Blackwing temporarily 

suspended the boyfriend from training, making Victim feel protected and 

prompting her to further increase her overall contact with Blackwing. R1107-

11. She started talking or texting him almost every day and began spending 

three hours a day at least five times a week at his house. R1108-10.  

 Through December, they spent less time on training and fitness and 

more time talking. R1109-12, 1127. She told him about the loved ones who 

had recently died and about her abusive brother. R1117. He told her that he 

was immortal. R1112-13. In their on-going discussions of the Shen philosophy 

and his belief that Shen were “better than everyone else,” Blackwing revealed 

not only that a Shen lord was allowed multiple women at any given time 

while maintaining full authority in the household, but contended that he had 

been alive since biblical times. R1111-13, 1115-19, 1121, 1298. He claimed that 

he could travel between worlds and could, therefore, tell her whether her 

recently passed loved ones were safe and happy. R1117-18. He could also 

help her “get revenge” on her abusive brother. Id. And he claimed that he 
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could make her immortal if she completed her training with him and passed 

various tests. R1113-16.  

 Victim found Blackwing’s revelations consistent with her readings 

about vampires and immortality, believed what he said, and spent most of 

December discussing his beliefs with him.  R1113-15, 1118. She felt important 

because he confided in her. R1115. During those discussions, Blackwing 

worked to undermine Victim’s LDS beliefs specifically and religious beliefs 

in general, giving her books to reinforce his view. R1113, 1116-17, 1284-85.  

He also described the Shen belief in the death penalty for those who betrayed 

Shen practitioners. R1121. He stressed his own past as an assassin, claimed 

that he had killed many people, and offered documentary proof that he had 

tried to kill his ex-wife. R1120-22. As with the rest of his disclosures, Victim 

believed him and realized that he would kill her if he believed she betrayed 

him. R1122.   

 At the same time, he continued to shower her with compliments and 

promise that she would be powerful someday. R1119. And by the end of 

December, Victim felt “super safe” around Blackwing and viewed him and 

the two women with whom he lived, Raven and Theresa, as her “best friends 

in the whole world.” R1118-19. She was “astonished” that someone like him 
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would spend time with her and, like the other women, she finally began to 

call him by his preferred title: “My Lord.” R1104, 1120-21, 1156, 1314, 1323.  

 By January, Victim viewed Blackwing as a father figure and looked 

forward to seeing him on a daily basis. R1125, 1269. She visited his home with 

increasing frequency but trained less, preferring just to spend time with him. 

R1125-28. She noticed that he ruled the household and that his “wives” asked 

him for permission to do things. R1112-16, 1120-21. When he suggested that 

it would be “better” that she not date anyone, she didn’t. R1126-27. When the 

condition of one of her young patients deteriorated, she got comfort from 

Blackwing. R1286, 1319-20. And she continued to enjoy his compliments 

about her body, her progress, and her potential. R1119, 1128. Their interaction 

made her comfortable with Blackwing and feel like she could tell him 

anything. R1304. 

 Near February, Victim learned that her brother would be coming home 

for a while and decided to move out temporarily. 1122-25, 1266. Blackwing 

volunteered his spare room and proposed that she pay rent and train every 

day so she could progress faster. R1124-26. Though pleased, Victim felt a bit 

pressured when both Blackwing and Raven repeatedly told her “how 

awesome” it would be if she moved in. R1124-26. 
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 Victim did not commit immediately but continued to visit and again 

increased her texts and calls to Blackwing while he continued to add more 

pressure. R1126-30. He and his wives took Victim to a nice dinner on 

Valentine’s Day and gave her presents, making the isolated teen feel more 

special. R1127-28, 1130-32. When Victim later had her wisdom teeth removed, 

she convalesced at Blackwing’s house where he cared for her in such a way 

that she developed a crush on him. R1132-34.  

 And in early March, Blackwing kissed Victim and professed his love 

and that of the other women. R1132-34, 1304-05. He showered her with 

compliments, told her how excited he was to be with her, and explained how 

she would become his new wife and how the four of them would become a 

powerful group. R1134, 1293. Victim was conflicted, knowing it was wrong, 

but feeling “really special” that he liked her. R1133, 1306. 

 That was the push she needed to approach her parents about 

Blackwing’s suggestion of moving in with him. They had Blackwing to 

dinner where they met him for the first time and listened while he explained 

that Victim could “take all of her stuff[,]” and would pay rent, have a curfew, 

and go to school. R1134-35, 1181-82, 1189-90, 1266. Victim’s parents granted 

permission for the temporary move, emphasizing that she could come home 

at any time. R1181-84, 1191.  
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 Blackwing’s influence over Victim was readily apparent when he 

helped her move two days later. R1136-37, 1181.  They arrived at Victim’s 

house while her parents were at work, and he monitored her packing, letting 

her pack only the darker-colored clothes because his colors were black and 

grey, taking only a fraction of her belongings, and leaving things behind that 

Mom knew Victim liked. R1137, 1182, 1272. Unsurprisingly, Mom rarely saw 

or spoke with Victim after that. R1192, 1279. One of Victim’s friends later 

contacted Mom to tell her that Victim was no longer on social media, which 

Mom then verified. R1184. And Mom discovered that Victim had 

disconnected her phone, curtailing Mom’s ability to text or call her. Id. Victim 

only called to get her passport after she turned 18 in May. R1183-84. Mom 

refused to relinquish it. Id. 

 Victim did not pay rent when she moved into Blackwing’s home but 

was subjected to his authority. R1113, 1120-21, 1279, 1304. And he took 

control of her life immediately. She quickly discovered that the women who 

lived in his home were required to serve him and that she was required to do 

things his way or be punished. R1298, 1325. He taught her how he wanted 

her to walk, talk, and dress, how to apologize, and how to please him 

sexually. R1142-46. He required that she write sexually explicit letters to him. 

R1307-11, 1315. He punished her when she made mistakes, and he required 
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that she ask his permission for everything. R1161-62, 1323, 1325. He cut off 

her exposure to people outside the household, encouraged her to shun her 

mother, ended her social media use except on his demand, and eliminated 

her iPhone and her parents’ phone service, replacing it with a flip phone with 

purchased minutes which he periodically checked. R1154-55, 1279, 1289-91, 

1294, 1296, 1319. He also eliminated her use of deodorant and sunscreen. 

R1161. When he was gone, Raven and Theresa took charge of Victim. R1324-

25. Her training continued but now included how to kill people, how to hide, 

and how to live the Shen lifestyle. R1156, 1323-24. 

 Blackwing began a sexual relationship with Victim immediately. She 

moved in on March 9, and Blackwing surprised her by setting a foam pad on 

the floor of his office, creating a “bedroom” that was largely for show when 

others visited. R1136-40, 1272, 1305. Victim discovered she would be staying 

in Blackwing’s room. R1139, 1305. Blackwing banned Raven and Theresa 

from his bedroom that night so that he could sleep with Victim and 

proceeded to enjoy intercourse and other sexual activity with her twice that 

night and again the following day. R1139-42. But Blackwing banned her to 

her own room the second night for some transgression and slept with Raven 

and Theresa instead. R1142.  
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 Blackwing left for a trip within a few days and celebrated his return on 

St. Patrick’s Day with drinks and his favorite activity: sex. R1146-48, 1300. 

This was Victim’s introduction to group sex, and it was repeated when the 

four celebrated his birthday later that same month at a hotel in Salt Lake City. 

R1147-49, 1173-77. Both celebrations included intercourse and other sexual 

contact between Blackwing and Victim. R1147-49, 1152-53. 

 Sexual intercourse between Blackwing and Victim continued into the 

first part of April and lasted until the Division of Child and Family Services 

[DCFS] checked on Victim.1 R1156-57, 1276. Officers visited Blackwing’s 

home, causing him to call Victim to warn her that DCFS would be 

interviewing her. R1157. He told her what to say to them and warned her 

about what would happen if she betrayed him. R1157-58. She was “terrified” 

of him and believed that telling the truth would get her or her family killed. 

R1157-58, 1277, 1316-17. So she lied when asked if the two were sexually 

involved. R1157-58, 1277-78. 

 Victim stayed with Blackwing, but the “scare” prompted him to 

temporarily stop their sexual contact while in Utah until she turned 18. 

 
1 Witnesses and counsel at trial used the terms “Child Protective 

Services” and “Division of Child and Family Services” interchangeably. The 
State uses the latter term herein. 
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R1164-65, 1319. Instead, he took her to Texas during the last 10 days of April, 

where the two again had intercourse.2 R1158-62, 1300; State’s Exh. 11(c). 

Victim basked in being alone with Blackwing during the trip, and they talked 

at length about his dream of moving the group to Belize. R1159-61. But she 

also endured his irrational rage when, in the middle of the night, he woke her 

up, yelled at her, called her stupid, threatened to cut her up and leave her in 

the desert, and threatened her family. R1161-62. She used sex to calm him but 

was required to do “restitution” upon returning home.3 Id.   

 They resumed intercourse in Utah after the victim’s eighteenth 

birthday in May. R1164-65, 1319. Police arrested Blackwing in July for 

conduct involving another teen, and he exchanged letters and phone calls 

with Victim during his incarceration. R1165-70, 1492, 1494. Police arrested 

Victim and Raven in mid-September for a felony at the other teen’s home. 

R1171-72, 1496. Removed from Blackwing’s sphere of influence, Victim 

voluntarily told officers and her parents of her experiences with him. R1171-

72, 1320-21, 1324, 1327-28. She then reached an agreement under which she 

pled guilty to the felony charge, spent time in jail and received probation in 

 
2 The judge instructed the jury during Victim’s testimony that the Texas 

incident was not one of the charged counts. R1165-66. 

3 “Restitution” would include performing a sexual act or taking 
Blackwing on a date. R1162.  
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exchange for which she agreed to testify truthfully against Blackwing, Raven, 

and Theresa.4 R1171-72, 1287-89.  

B. Summary of proceedings and disposition of the court. 

 The State charged Blackwing with seven counts of first-degree rape, 

one count of first-degree forcible sodomy, and three counts of second-degree 

forcible sexual abuse. R516-18 (in Add. C).  The nonconsent element was 

based on proof that Victim was between fourteen and seventeen, that 

Blackwing was more than three years older than her, and that he occupied a 

position of special trust. See Utah Code Ann. §76-5-406(11) (LexisNexis 2013) 

(in Add. A). R1408-09. 

 Only Victim testified concerning the charged sexual offenses, but the 

State adduced corroborative testimony from other witnesses. Mom explained 

her understanding of Victim’s training with Blackwing, detailed Victim’s 

early behavior changes and the increase in training between November and 

March, outlined Victim’s withdrawal from the family and the increase in her 

defensive behavior, verified the conversation with Blackwing over dinner, 

described the communication changes that occurred after Victim moved 

away, and lamented the additional personality changes in her daughter 

 
4 The felony was reduced to a misdemeanor after Victim completed 

probation. R1171-72, 1289, 1321.  
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thereafter. R1178, 1180-89, 1192, 1198. A hotel clerk verified the foursome’s 

stay at the Salt Lake City hotel Victim identified. R1173-77. Blackwing’s son, 

Orion, and his fiancé testified that they lived with Blackwing before and after 

Victim began staying overnight, they both went to high school with the 

victim, and Orion interrupted what sounded like active sex in Victim’s 

bedroom. R1202, 1204, 1207-11, 1213-17.  Orion also verified the marital-like 

relationship between Blackwing and the other two women, Blackwing’s long-

term involvement in the Shen lifestyle, his preferred title, his position as a 

martial arts instructor, the progression of Victim’s training from the early 

days with her boyfriend to the individual sessions, and the fact Victim did 

not always sleep in her own bedroom. R1202-09. Victim’s bank records 

verified the Texas trip. State’s Exh. 11(c). And Blackwing’s letters to the victim 

and the phone calls between the two corroborated the nature of their 

relationship and the level of authority he developed over her during their 

time together.5 R1165-70, 1307-11. They showed that he directed her 

movements, that she asked permission of him for things like a drink or going 

to a job interview, and that he provided positive verbal and emotional 

 
5 The CD of phone calls contained in the appellate record at State’s 

Exhibit 7 is empty. The State relies on the descriptions of the exhibit’s contents 
contained in the closing arguments. 
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reinforcement in terms appealing to a young female. R1307-11, 1411-12; 

State’s Exh. 8-10.  

 The defense presented no evidence and argued that the State did not 

establish any relationship of special trust. R1413-20. Following a two-day 

trial, the jury convicted Blackwing as charged. R845-53. The judge ordered 

the recently-prepared presentence investigation report to be supplemented, 

then used the document in sentencing Blackwing to the statutory terms of 

five-years-to-life for each of the eight first-degree-felony convictions and one-

to-fifteen years for each of the three second-degree-felony-forcible-sexual-

abuse convictions. R866-68, 1433-34, 1458-74. The judge then ran seven of the 

first-degree felony counts concurrently to the three second-degree-felony 

counts, ran the eighth first-degree-felony count consecutive to those counts, 

and ran all counts in this case consecutive to Blackwing’s previously imposed 

sentences in another case. R867-68. 

 Blackwing timely filed a new-trial motion fourteen days later and a 

notice of appeal from his judgment and conviction thirteen days after that. 

R872-74, 877-82. The Utah Supreme Court transferred the appeal to this Court 

where it proceeded until May 2018, when Blackwing sought and received a 

remand to obtain a ruling on his new-trial motion. R1548. The district court 

heard argument and thereafter denied the motion on November 19, 2018. 
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R2080-84, 2101-13. Blackwing filed no second or amended notice of appeal. 

Appellate Record Index (in Add. B). 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

 Issue I. Blackwing argues that this Court should vacate three of his 

seven rape convictions because the State failed to establish that the district 

court had criminal jurisdiction over those offenses. He maintains that the 

State produced no evidence that he committed any of those three offenses in 

Utah. Instead, he argues, the evidence supported no more than two of the 

contested rape charges, showed that one of those occurred in Texas, and 

failed to tie the other to Utah. Consequently, he claims, the trial court lacked 

criminal jurisdiction over all three counts, and he is entitled to have those 

convictions vacated.   

 But viewed in context, the evidence reveals that at least three acts of 

intercourse occurred in Utah within the relevant timeframe, establishing the 

trial court’s criminal jurisdiction over those charges. Victim testified that: she 

discovered that Blackwing’s favorite pastime was sex, he instructed her in 

sexual matters, she was a brand new sexual conquest, intercourse began the 

night she moved in, they had intercourse at least  four times around 

Blackwing’s travels in March, intercourse continued into April until the 

DCFS visit, Blackwing did not stop having intercourse with Victim thereafter 
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but took her out of state to do so, and they had intercourse “[m]ore than one 

time” during the period charged in all three challenged counts. All 

intercourse occurring before the Texas trip occurred in Utah, as shown by 

evidence that Blackwing isolated Victim from friends, family, and social 

media after she moved into his home, insisted that she ask him for permission 

for everything, imposed numerous other restrictions on her time and 

conduct, and reigned with an iron first over the women in his household. 

Victim could not have left the State without Blackwing’s permission, there 

was no evidence that she sought or received such permission, and her bank 

records showed no trip outside the state in April until the couple went to 

Texas. Taken in its entirety, the evidence and its reasonable inferences 

established that all acts of intercourse between the two during the charged 

period occurred within Utah, giving the district court criminal jurisdiction 

over the challenged rapes. 

 Second, Blackwing argues that his counsel was ineffective for not 

moving for a directed verdict or for an arrest of judgment on the same three 

challenged rape charges. He maintains that the State’s failure to adduce proof 

of criminal jurisdiction left no evidence to support a conviction on any of the 

three charges. As a result, he claims, either motion would have been granted, 

rendering counsel’s inaction both deficient and prejudicial.  
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 But counsel is not necessarily ineffective simply because a foregone 

motion might have been granted. In any event, the evidence and reasonable 

inferences that established the district court’s criminal jurisdiction over the 

three charges would permit a reasonable jury to find the challenged elements 

of the three rapes, allowing counsel to reasonably conclude that the motions 

would have been denied. Consequently, Blackwing’s ineffectiveness claim 

fails.  

 Issue II.  Blackwing also challenges the trial court’s rejection of an issue 

raised in his motion for new trial. However, this Court lacks jurisdiction to 

consider his argument because he filed a notice of appeal only from his 

convictions and sentences. He filed that notice of appeal before the trial court 

even considered his new-trial motion. After the trial court denied that 

motion, Blackwing failed to file a new or amended notice of appeal as 

required by the appellate rules.  

ARGUMENT 

I. 

The evidence established the district court’s 

jurisdiction over the three challenged rape charges 

and permitted reasonable counsel to forego a motion 

for directed verdict or to arrest judgment. 

 Blackwing urges this Court to vacate three of his seven rape 

convictions due to a lack of evidence that they occurred in Utah. Aplt.Br. 13-
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25. Because he did not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support 

the convictions below, he makes two alternative arguments. First, he argues 

that the district court lacked criminal jurisdiction over the three rape charges 

because there was no evidence, or insufficient evidence, that any of them 

occurred in Utah. Id. at 11, 20-22. Second, he claims that the same lack of 

evidence establishes his counsel’s ineffective assistance for not moving for a 

directed verdict or seeking to arrest judgment on the three charges. Id. at 22-

25.  

 On the contrary, not only did the evidence and its reasonable 

inferences establish the trial court’s criminal jurisdiction over the three 

charges, Blackwing does not show that, given that evidence, no reasonable 

counsel would have foregone a motion for a directed verdict or an arrest of 

judgment. This defeats both of his claims.6 

A. Relevant proceedings below. 

 Pursuant to section 76-5-402, counts 5, 6, and 7 in the Second Amended 

Information charged that “on or about April 1, 2014, through May 13, 2014, 

 
6 Blackwing did not challenge the district court’s jurisdiction below as 

seemingly required under Utah Code section 76-1-201(5)(b).  But as explained 
in State v. Holm, “a trial court or an appellate court may dismiss a criminal 
charge for lack of criminal jurisdiction at any time, regardless of whether the 
defendant raised the issue before or during trial,” because “[c]riminal 
jurisdiction is a form of subject matter jurisdiction.”  2006 UT 31, ¶96, 137 P.3d 
726 (issue would not be waived even if Holm had failed to raise it below).  
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in Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the defendant did have sexual intercourse 

with another person without the victim’s consent.” R516-18.  

 On direct examination, the prosecutor walked Victim through a 

chronology of the charged rapes, giving the jury a snapshot of the regularity 

with which she and Blackwing had intercourse. The chronology began on 

March 9 when Victim moved into Blackwing’s West Jordan house. She 

described two incidents of intercourse the first night and another the 

following day. R1139-42. She did not sleep with him the second night because 

he got mad and banished her to her own room. R1141-42. He then left the 

state, returning a week later on St. Patrick’s Day when all three of his wives 

welcomed him home with drinks and sex, including intercourse with Victim. 

R1146-48, 1300. And on March 31, all three women helped Blackwing 

celebrate his birthday with a memorable evening out and a night of his 

favorite pastime—sex—at the Crystal Inn Hotel in Salt Lake City, again 

including intercourse between Victim and Blackwing. R1147-53.  

 The chronological progress stopped momentarily while the 

questioning established some of the restrictions Blackwing imposed on the 

victim after she moved into his home, then proceeded to intercourse in April. 

R1154-56.  

[Prosecutor]: Now, did you have any sexual intercourse with 
Kain in the month of April of 2014? 
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A: Yes. 

Q. One time, or more than one time? 

A. More than one time. 

R1156-57. The prosecutor proceeded sequentially to the mid-April visit from 

DCFS, then to Victim’s post-DCFS trip to Texas with Blackwing during which 

they again had intercourse. R1157-62, 1300. Finally, Victim clarified that 

Blackwing “didn’t have sex with [her] as much” after the “DCFS scare” and 

specified that their only intercourse between the DCFS scare and her 18th 

birthday in mid-May was during the Texas trip. R1164-65, 1319.  

B. The trial court had criminal jurisdiction over all three 
challenged rape charges. 

 Blackwing contends that the district court lacked criminal jurisdiction 

over counts 5, 6, and 7, charging rapes between April 1 and ay 13, 2014, 

because the evidence did not establish that any of those three rapes occurred 

in Utah. Aplt.Br. 15-22. Specifically, he argues that the above evidence 

showed that, at most, two instances of intercourse occurred during the period 

charged for each count, that one of the two occurred in Texas, and that the 

other was not tied to Utah. Id. at 20-22. Thus, according to Blackwing, no 

evidence established that two of the three convictions occurred in Utah, and 

the location of the third rested on nothing but speculation. Id. Absent 

evidence connecting the three rapes to Utah, he argues, this Court should 
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vacate those convictions for lack of jurisdiction and dismiss the charges. Id. at 

21-22. A review of the evidence, however, does not support his claim. 

 Criminal jurisdiction is governed by Utah Code section 76-1-201, which 

provides, “[a] person is subject to prosecution in this state for an offense 

which he commits, while either within or outside the state, by his own 

conduct or that of another for which he is legally accountable, if … the offense 

is committed either wholly or partly within the state.”  Utah Code Ann. § 76-

1-201(1)(a) (LexisNexis 2017) (in Add. A).  Because a preponderance of the 

evidence standard applies, the State need prove only that it was more likely 

than not that Blackwing engaged in at least three instances of sexual 

intercourse with the victim in Utah during the period charged in the three 

challenged counts. See State v. Holm, 2006 UT 31, ¶¶93, 95, 97, 137 P.3d 726; 

State v. Mills, 2012 UT App 367, ¶32, 293 P.3d 1129. See also Utah Code Ann. 

§76-5-402 (LexisNexis 2013) (rape) (in Add. A). 

 The three charges focus on the period between April 1 and May 13, 

2014. R516-18. Blackwing highlights Victim’s assertions that they had 

intercourse “[m]ore than one time” in April, that they had intercourse in 

Texas, and that they “didn’t have intercourse” in May. Aplt.Br. 15-17. He 

correctly argues that this testimony establishes that the three rapes must have 

occurred in April. Id. at 18. He then claims that “logic and math” dictates that 
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in this case “more than one time” means “at most two” and that the victim 

“conclusively” put one of those two times in Texas. Id. at 18-19, 21. 

Consequently, he argues, only one count remained over which the trial court 

could have had jurisdiction, and there was no evidence to permit any 

reasonable inference whether the count occurred “in Utah, in Texas, or 

somewhere on the road trip between.” Id. at 19-20.   

 But Blackwing mischaracterizes Victim’s testimony by taking it out of 

context and interpreting it independently of the remaining evidence.  Her 

testimony, viewed in context with other evidence reflecting on her 

interactions with Blackwing, demonstrates by a preponderance of the 

evidence that the trial court had criminal jurisdiction over all three challenged 

rape charges.   

 The evidence begins with Victim’s testimony that they had intercourse 

in April “[m]ore than one time.” R1156-57. Blackwing claims that the phrase 

is “too vague” to have any meaning but “twice, at most[.]” Aplt.Br. 18-19. 

Although that may be one meaning, the phrase and the context in which it 

was used below permits a different interpretation.  

 The phrase is not a specialized term of art, and nothing in its use by 

Victim suggests that it should be given any but its ordinary meaning. See, e.g., 

State v. Bagnes, 2014 UT 4, ¶13, 322 P.3d 719 (term not defined by statute 
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required court to “look elsewhere to derive its meaning—to either the 

ordinary meaning of the word, or to its technical sense as a legal term of art”) 

(footnote omitted); Hi-Country Prop. Rights Grp. v. Emmer, 2013 UT 33, ¶18, 

304 P.3d 851 (term not expressly defined by statute and not appearing to be a 

technical term of art is given its ordinary meaning); State v. Hendrickson, 67 

Utah 15, 245 P. 375, 378 (1926) (words and phrases other than technical ones 

“must be construed according to their plain and ordinary meaning”).  Here, 

the ordinary meaning of the phrase is what it says on its face: more than once. 

In other words, two or more times or multiple times. See, e.g., State v. Brown, 

694 P.2d 587, 588, 590 (Utah 1984) (Hall, C.J., dissenting) (using the phrase 

“more than once” to describe an action which occurred four times); Leger 

Const., Inc. v. Roberts, Inc., 550 P.2d 212, (Utah 1976) (citing to three cases to 

illustrate assertion that Court has made a particular statement “more than 

once”); State v. Speed, 2017 UT App 76, ¶¶6, 44, 397 P.3d 824 (using the phrase 

“more than once” to describe an action which occurred twice); State v. 

MacNeill, 2017 UT App 48, ¶19, 397 P.3d 626 (same); State v. Jadama, 2010 UT 

App 107, ¶6 & n.3, 232 P.3d 545 (same). Thus, while the testimony could 

imply only two occasions, it can, as Blackwing admits, also imply more than 

two occasions. See Aplt.Br. 18 (“it could mean anything”).   
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 Context from other evidence provides further meaning to the phrase. 

Victim described the frequency with which she and Blackwing had 

intercourse as well as the fact that sex was a major component of her training 

and her lifestyle while at Blackwing’s home. This testimony permitted the 

reasonable inference that the rate of their intercourse during March 

continued unabated into the first weeks of April. Victim lived with Blackwing 

in his West Jordan home as of March 9, and Blackwing considered her his 

newest wife. R1134, 1136, 1272, 1293. The intercourse began immediately, 

occurring twice on the first night and once again the next day. R1139-42. She 

indicated that Blackwing was gone for several of the twenty-two days she 

lived at his house that month, but was able to articulate at least five acts of 

intercourse that occurred when he was home. R1139-42, 1146-49, 1152-53, 

1173-77. He did not leave town again until he took her to Texas in April, and 

she testified that intercourse did not decrease between them until after the 

DCFS visit in April. R1164-65, 1276, 1300, 1319. But unable to maintain his 

self-imposed ban on intercourse with Victim while she was only seventeen, 

Blackwing took her to Texas during the last ten days of April where the two 

again had intercourse. R1158-62, 1300; State’s Exh. 11(c).  Victim also stated 

that sex was Blackwing’s favorite pastime, that much of her instruction from 

Blackwing after she moved in concerned sexual matters that included how to 
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please Blackwing sexually, and that her training continuing during April. 

R1146, 1149, 1156, 1307-11, 1315. Moreover, they had ample opportunity 

during April to continue their frequent intercourse inasmuch as Victim 

largely stayed in Blackwing’s bedroom and used her own room in the office 

as an occasional “cover” for visitors.7 R1142, 1305, 1137-40.  

 Given this evidence, it could be readily inferred that Victim’s 

admission that the two had intercourse “[m]ore than one time” during April 

meant more than twice and that those incidents occurred between April 1 and 

the DCFS visit later that month.  

 Finally, the evidence also permitted the reasonable inference that all 

three incidents occurred in Utah. Victim lived with Blackwing in his West 

Jordan home as of March 9, and all five March incidents occurred at 

Blackwing’s West Jordan home or in a Salt Lake City hotel. R1090-91, 1136, 

1139-42, 1146-49, 1152-53, 1173-77, 1272. Blackwing did not leave town 

between St. Patrick’s Day in March and the Texas trip in April. R1300. 

 Once Victim moved in, Blackwing exercised a tight rein over her, 

supporting the inference that she too did not leave the State until he took her 

to Texas. He restricted her movements and outside contacts, minimized her 

 
7 Even in her office room the two were heard having sex before Victim 

turned eighteen. R1209; 1217, 1318-19. 
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contact with her mother, exchanged her iPhone for a monitored flip phone, 

required that she deactivate her social media, and even banned her use of 

deodorant and sunscreen. R1144, 1154-55, 1161, 1291, 1279, 1289-90, 1294, 

1296, 1318-19. He decided what she was allowed to bring when she moved in 

and what she could wear, spent time teaching her what he wanted her to 

know, and required that she ask his permission for everything. R1137, 1142-

46, 1182, 1272, 1323, 1325. And when he was gone, Raven and Theresa took 

charge of her. R1324-25. Thus, Victim was necessarily in Utah under 

Blackwing’s instruction and would have had to obtain his permission to leave 

the state. But there was no evidence that she asked for or received any 

permission to do so, and her bank records show no transactions outside Utah 

in April except during the Texas trip. See State’s Exhibits 11(b)-(c). She was in 

town during Blackwing’s birthday celebration between March 31 and April 

1, and the subsequent DCFS incident occurred when Victim was in school in 

Utah. This evidence permits the reasonable inference that all sexual contact 

between the two in April before the DCFS visit and the Texas trip occurred 

in Utah.  

 Thus, viewed in its entirety, Victim’s uncontested testimony 

concerning her continuing sexual relationship with Blackwing during March 

and April, and the evidence establishing their movements during that time, 
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their relationship once she moved in, and his controlling conduct toward her, 

together with the reasonable inferences from that evidence, establishes by a 

preponderance of the evidence that the trial court had criminal jurisdiction 

over the three challenged rape charges. See Holm, 2006 UT 31, ¶97. The fact 

that intercourse also occurred during the trip to Texas does not change that 

assessment as to any of the charges. See, e.g., id. This is especially true because 

the trial court instructed the jury that Blackwing was not charged with the 

Texas intercourse. R1165-66. 

C. Reasonable counsel could conclude not to seek either a directed 
verdict or an arrest of judgment. 

 Blackwing also posits that his counsel was ineffective for not moving 

for a directed verdict or to arrest judgment on counts 5, 6, and 7 on the basis 

that the State “presented no evidence to support the verdict” on these three 

counts. Aplt.Br. 22-25. He argues that his counsel’s inaction was objectively 

deficient because either motion would have been granted for the reasons 
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argued in subsections IA and B in his brief—that there was insufficient 

evidence that the three rapes occurred in Utah.8 Id. at 23. 

 When reviewing a trial court’s ruling on a preserved directed verdict 

motion, this Court’s standard of review is “highly deferential.” State v. 

Nielsen, 2014 UT 10, ¶30, 326 P.3d 645. This Court “will uphold the trial court's 

decision if, upon reviewing the evidence and all inferences that can be 

reasonably drawn from it,” this Court concludes “that some evidence exists 

from which a reasonable jury could find that the elements of the crime had 

been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Montoya, 2004 UT 5, ¶29, 84 

P.3d 1183; State v. Millerberg, 2018 UT App 32, ¶12, 414 P.3d 1106, cert. denied 

425 P.3d 802. A decision to reverse a jury verdict on a motion to arrest 

judgment is appropriate only when ”the evidence is sufficiently inconclusive 

or inherently improbable such that reasonable minds must have entertained 

a reasonable doubt that the defendant committed the crime for which he or 

 
8 Blackwing does not challenge the nonconsent element. His claim that 

there was “no evidence” to support the three rape verdicts rests on his 
argument in subsections IA and B that there was no evidence to establish that 
Victim “had sex with Blackwing in Utah during April[.]” Aplt.Br. 20, 24. 
Moreover, the same evidence established the lack of consent required for all 
seven rape charges, his counsel unsuccessfully challenged that evidence 
below for all seven charges, and Blackwing does not challenge that ruling or 
four of the rape convictions on appeal. R1358-61, 1408-09. 
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she was convicted.” State v. Wells, 2014 UT App 13, ¶7, 318 P.3d 1251 

(quotation simplified).  

 When a defendant’s sufficiency challenge is unpreserved and his claim 

on appeal is that defense counsel was ineffective for not raising the challenge 

below, the defendant’s burden is even greater. His burden increases because 

to prove ineffective assistance, the defendant “bears the heavy burden” of 

showing both “that counsel’s performance was deficient” and that counsel’s 

“deficient performance prejudiced” the outcome of his case. State v. De la 

Cruz-Diaz, 2012 UT App 179, ¶2, 282 P.3d 1041 (quotation simplified); accord 

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984). That is, the defendant 

must rebut the “strong presumption that counsel’s conduct falls within the 

wide range of reasonable professional assistance,” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689, 

by showing that “no competent attorney” would have proceeded as his 

counsel did. Premo v. Moore, 562 U.S. 115, 124 (2011). See also State v. Roberts 

2019 UT App 9, ¶29, 438 P.3d 885.  

 A defendant’s burden in proving that defense counsel was ineffective 

for not raising a sufficiency challenge at trial, then, is considerable. He must 

initially show that the evidence, viewed “in a light most favorable to the 

verdict,’” was “so inconclusive or inherently improbable that reasonable 

minds must have entertained a reasonable doubt” such that the defendant 
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would have prevailed on a sufficiency challenge at trial had one been raised. 

Nielsen, 2014 UT 10, ¶46. And he must further show “that the insufficiency 

was so obvious and fundamental,” State v. Holgate, 2000 UT 74, ¶17, 10 P.3d 

346, that “no competent counsel would have” forgone the challenge. Chandler 

v. United States, 218 F.3d 1305, 1315-16 & nn.16-17 (11th Cir. 2000) (quotation 

simplified); see also State v. Johnson, 2015 UT App 312, ¶¶10,15, 265 P.3d 730 

(setting forth plain error standard applicable to sufficiency of the evidence 

claims and stating that “[o]ur analysis under the rubric of ineffective 

assistance of counsel is similar”). 

 Blackwing has not met his burden here.  He argues that it was not 

objectively reasonable for his counsel to remain silent and allow him to be 

convicted of all three rapes without evidence to support “the conclusion that 

[Victim] had sex with Blackwing in Utah during April[.]” Aplt.Br. 20, 23-24. 

But as explained above, the State adduced sufficient evidence of three 

incidents of intercourse in Utah during April to establish by a preponderance 

of the evidence that the district court had jurisdiction over those counts. See 

Subpoint IB, supra. That same evidence and its reasonable inferences, viewed 

in a light most favorable to the jury’s verdict, represents “some evidence from 

which a reasonable jury could find” the challenged elements so as to allow 

counsel to reasonably conclude that a motion for a directed verdict or for an 
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arrest of judgment for any of the three counts would have been denied, 

defeating Blackwing’s ineffectiveness claim. See State v. Baer, 2019 UT App 15, 

¶7, 438 P.3d 979 (counsel was not ineffective for not moving for a directed 

verdict or an arrest of judgment where there was “some evidence from which 

a reasonable jury could find all the elements” of the charged crime and the 

motions would have been denied) (quotation simplified); Millerberg, 2018 UT 

App 32, ¶¶11-12 (counsel was not ineffective for foregoing directed verdict 

motion where evidence was sufficient to survive such a motion).  

 Moreover, Blackwing’s argument presupposes that, had counsel raised 

the objection, the State could not have elicited more specific testimony from 

Victim clearly establishing that at least three rapes occurred in Utah on or 

after April 1st. Blackwing has not made that showing. Given Strickland’s 

presumption of reasonable performance, this Court must presume that 

counsel reasonably chose to forgo the objection because he knew that the 

State could remedy any defect, real or perceived, in the evidence. See 466 U.S. 

at 689 (recognizing presumption that counsel’s actions “might be considered 

sound trial strategy”); see also Harrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86, 105 (2011) 

(“Unlike a later reviewing court, the attorney observed the relevant 

proceedings, knew of materials outside the record, and interacted with the 

client, with opposing counsel, and with the judge.”). As demonstrated, given 
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Victim’s testimony, it was likely that she could have clarified that at lest three 

rapes occurred during the relevant charged timeframe. Blackwing has not 

provided any evidence that she could not. Strickland’s presumption of 

reasonable performance therefore stands unrebutted. See Burt v. Titlow, 571 

U.S. 12, 23 (2013) (“It should go without saying that the absence of evidence 

cannot overcome the ‘strong presumption that counsel’s conduct [fell] within 

the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.’”) (quoting Strickland, 

466 U.S. at 689).  

II. 

This Court lacks jurisdiction to reach Blackwing’s 

second issue because he failed to file a notice of appeal 

from the denial of his new trial motion. 

 Blackwing also challenges the jury’s possession in deliberations of a 

CD of phone calls between himself and Victim. Aplt.Br. 25-28. The CD is 

marked as State’s Exhibit 7 and sports a label identifying its contents as 

“Blackwing jail calls.” See State’s Exh. 7. Blackwing argues that the single 

written reference to his jail custody was prejudicial and warrants a new trial 

on all charges. Aplt.Br. 25-28. 

 This Court lacks jurisdiction to consider Blackwing’s challenge.  The 

jury’s possession of State’s Exhibit 7 was the sole issue Blackwing raised in 

his post-trial new-trial motion. R872-74. But he did not invoke this Court’s 

jurisdiction to review the denial of that motion by filing, as appellate rules 
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require, either an amended or a separate notice of appeal from the trial court’s 

order denying the motion. 

 The district court entered the sentence and judgment on September 19, 

2017. R866-70. On October 3, Blackwing filed a new-trial motion arguing that 

the CD’s label revealing his custody status was so prejudicial as to warrant a 

new trial. R872-74. On October 16, he filed a timely notice of appeal, seeking 

to appeal from the September 19 final judgment and sentence. R877-78. The 

State filed its opposition to the new-trial motion on October 17, but no further 

action occurred on the motion for another year. R885-96; Appellate Record 

Index. 

 Meanwhile, the case proceeded on appeal. On May 7, 2018, 

Blackwing’s counsel moved for a remand to permit the trial court to rule on 

the new-trial motion. R1548. This Court granted the motion on May 16 and 

remanded the case to the trial court for that limited purpose. Id. The judge 

heard argument on the new-trial motion on November 13 and entered an 

order denying the motion on November 19. R2077-84, 2101-13. Blackwing did 

not thereafter amend his prior notice of appeal and did not file a new notice 

of appeal. Appellate Record Index. 

 Blackwing’s October 2017 notice of appeal became effective upon entry 

of the order denying the new-trial motion and gave this Court jurisdiction to 
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reach Blackwing’s initial appellate challenge to the evidence upon which 

three of his convictions rest. See Utah R. App. P. 4(b)(2) (a notice of appeal 

filed after entry of judgment but before entry of an order disposing of a new 

trial motion “shall be treated as filed after entry of the [new trial] order and 

on the day thereof, except that such a notice of appeal is effective to appeal 

only from the underlying judgment”). See Subpoint IB, supra. But this Court 

lacks jurisdiction to review his remaining challenge to the jury’s possession 

of State’s Exhibit 7 because that issue was raised and resolved only in 

Blackwing’s new-trial motion, and he did not file the necessary notice of 

appeal or amended notice of appeal after entry of the order denying that 

motion. See Utah R. App. P. 4(b)(2) (to appeal from a final order disposing of 

a new-trial motion, “a party must file a notice of appeal or an amended notice 

of appeal within the prescribed time measured from the entry of the order”). 

 Once a court determines that it lacks jurisdiction over arguments raised 

on appeal, it cannot consider those arguments when deciding the appeal.  

Evans v. Huber, 2016 UT App 17, ¶22, 366 P.3d 862 (court lacked jurisdiction 

to consider arguments related to a new-trial motion where no new or 

amended notice of appeal was filed after entry of the order disposing of the 

new trial motion); State v. Patrick, 2009 UT App 226, ¶12, n.2, 217 P.3d 1150 

(same). Accordingly, Blackwing’s notice of appeal was “effective to appeal 
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only from the underlying judgment[,]” and this Court is without jurisdiction 

to address his second issue.9  See Patrick, 2009 UT App 226, ¶12, n.2. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Court 

affirm Blackwing’s convictions.  

 Respectfully submitted on November 22, 2019. 

  SEAN D. REYES 
  Utah Attorney General 
 

/s/ Kris C. Leonard 

  KRIS C. LEONARD 
  Assistant Solicitor General 
  Counsel for Appellee 
 
 

 
9 Blackwing’s argument would fail in any event because he challenges 

only one of the three bases upon which the trial court rejected it below. See 
State v Lovell, 758 P.2d 909, 910, 912-13 (Utah 1988) (rejecting challenge to trial 
court ruling where court had two bases for its ruling and Lovell’s appeal 
focused on only one); State v. Montiel, 2004 UT App 242, ¶20, 95 P.3d 1216 
(appellant challenging trial court’s ruling “must address all of the 
circumstances upon which the court’s decision was based”). The trial court 
denied Blackwing’s new trial motion challenging the jury’s possession of the 
CD because Blackwing: (1) waived the objection; (2) invited any error in 
admission of the CD; and (3) suffered no prejudice. R2080-83. Blackwing 
argues on appeal only that the CD label was prejudicial because his 
conviction of three rapes for which there was no evidence proves that the jury 
convicted him based on factors other than the State’s evidence, of which the 
CD was the “only likely source[.]” Aplt.Br. 12, 25-28. 
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